
NOTE

a We can use a pattern with it to emphasize the time.
It's years since I skied/I've skied. It was in 1988 (that) I last skied.

b I've been here (for) a month means that I arrived here a month ago. I am here for a month
means that I have arranged to stay here for a month in total.

66 Past continuous
AN UNIDENTIFIED FLYING OBJECT

'I was going home from the pub at quarter to eleven. There was a full moon. I was
walking over the bridge when I saw the UFO. It was quite low. It was long and
thin, shaped like a cigar. It appeared to be made of aluminium. It was travelling
east to west, towards Warminster. I didn't know what to do. I didn't have a
camera of course. I watched it for a minute and then it went behind a cloud.'

1 Form

Past of be + active participle

I/he/she/it was flying
you/we/they were flying
Negative Questions
I/he/she/it was not flying was I/he/she/it flying?
you/we/they were not flying were you/we/they flying?
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With today there is little difference in meaning.
It has been windy today. (The day is not yet over.)
It was windy today. (The day is over.)

Both sentences are spoken late in the day. The second must be in the evening. The
speaker sees the day as over.

We use the present perfect with this week/month/year when we mean the whole
period up to now.

I've seen a lot of television this week.
We use the simple past for one time during the period.

I saw an interesting programme this week.
We might say this on Friday about something two or three days earlier.

We often use the negative with phrases of unfinished time.
It hasn't been very warm today.
I haven't seen much television this week.

d We often use for and since with the negative present perfect.
I haven't skied for years. /I haven't skied since 1988.

We can also use since with a clause.
I haven't skied since I was twelve.

Compare the past simple.
I last skied years ago/in 1988/ when I was twelve.

We can also use a phrase with for with the past simple to say how long something
went on.

I skied for hours.
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2 Use

a An action over a past period

We use the past continuous for an action over a period of past time, something
that we were in the middle of.

At quarter to eleven I was walking home.
The UFO was travelling east to west.
I wasn't sleeping, so I got up.
I looked into the room. All the old people were watching television.

Compare the present continuous and past continuous.
The UFO is travelling west. (It is in the middle of its journey.)
The UFO was travelling west. (It was in the middle of its journey.)

But for a complete action in the past, we use the past simple.
The UFO went behind a cloud.

In these examples the past continuous means an action over a whole period.
The salesman was travelling from Monday to Friday.
We were watching for UFOs all night. We never went to sleep.

Here we could also use the past simple.

Period of time: He was travelling all week. He was very tired.
Complete action: He travelled all week. He drove a long way.

b Past continuous and past simple

The period of a past continuous action can include a clock time.
/ was walking home at quarter to eleven.

It can also include another action.
/ was walking home when I saw the UFO.

Here the speaker sees one action as happening around another. The past
continuous is the longer, background action (walking), and the past simple is the
shorter, complete action (saw). The shorter action interrupted the longer one.
Here are some more examples.

Tim was washing his hair when the doorbell rang.
I had a sudden idea when/while/as I was waiting in a traffic queue.
The sun was shining when the campers woke.

When two actions both went on during the same period of time, we use the past
continuous for both.

Tim was washing his hair while I was cleaning up the kitchen.

When one complete action followed another, we use the past simple for both.
Tim got up when the doorbell rang. (= The doorbell rang and then Tim got up.)

c Past states

For a past state we normally use the past simple.
My grandmother loved this house.
I didn't know what to do.
The UFO appeared to be made of aluminium. It had a shape like a cigar.

NOTE

With temporary states we can sometimes use the past continuous. For details, • 62.
I didn't feel/wasn't feeling very well.
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Other uses of the past continuous
a We can use the past continuous for repeated actions which are temporary, only for a period.

My car was off the road. I was travelling to work by bus that week.
Compare I'm travelling to work by bus this week. • 64(2c)

b We can use the past continuous for a past arrangement.
/ was on my way to the pub. I was meeting James there.
(= I had arranged to meet James there.)

For I'm meeting James at the pub tonight, • 73(1).
c With the continuous, always means 'very often' or 'too often'.

Do you remember Mr Adams? He was always quoting Shakespeare.
For examples with the present continuous, • 64(2d).

67 Present perfect continuous
GOING INTO HOSPITAL

Mrs Webster: I shall have to go into hospital some time to have an operation on
my leg.

Ted: Are you on the waiting list?
Mrs Webster: Yes, I've been waiting for three years.
Ted: Three years! That's awful! You've been suffering all that time.
Mrs Webster: Well, I have to use the wheelchair, that's all.
Ted: They've been cutting expenditure, trying to save money. It's not right.
Mrs Webster: My son David has written to them three times. He's been trying to get

me in quicker. I don't know if it'll do any good.

1 Form

Present of have + been + active participle

I/you/we/they have been waiting
he/she/it has been waiting

Negative Questions
I/you/we/they have not been waiting have I/you/we/they been waiting?
he/she/it has not been waiting has he/she/it been waiting?

2 Use

a We use the present perfect continuous for an action over a period of time up to
now, the period leading up to the present.

I've been waiting for three years.
The government has been cutting expenditure.
How long have you been using a wheelchair?
The roof has been leaking. The carpet's wet.

The speaker looks back from the present and so uses the perfect.
NOT I wait for three years.

We often use for and since. • 227(5)
We've been living here for six months/since April.

NOTE

The action can end just before the present.
You look hot. ~ Yes, I've been running.


